ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Nano-Structures & Nano-Objects



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/nanoso

Synthesis strategies and application of ternary quantum dots — in cancer therapy



Olanrewaju A. Aladesuyi^a, Oluwatobi S. Oluwafemi^{b,c,*}

^a Department of Chemistry, Covenant University, KM 10 Idiroko Road, Canaanland, P.M.B. 1023, Ota, Nigeria ^b Department of Chemical Sciences (formerly Applied Chemistry), University of Johannesburg, P.O. Box 17011, Doornfontein 2028, Johannesburg, South Africa

^c Centre for Nanomaterials Science Research, University of Johannesburg, P.O. Box 17011, Doornfontein 2028, Johannesburg, South Africa

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 June 2020 Received in revised form 26 July 2020 Accepted 27 August 2020

Keywords: Ternary QDs Drug delivery Biosensors Hydrophilization Bioimaging Bioconjugate

ABSTRACT

Semiconductor nanoparticles also known as quantum dots (QDs) have continued to receive more attention from researchers due to their unique optical, magnetic and photo physical properties which made them useful as biomedical materials, solar cells, catalyst etc. However, ternary I-III-VI ODs have shown to be a safer alternative to the binary II-VI or IV-VI QDs due to the absent of heavy toxic elements such as Cd and Pb. Cancer management and therapy in Africa has been bedevilled by a lot of challenges such as inaccurate diagnosis and ineffective therapeutic methods. Therefore, the need to develop an appropriate approach for cancer detection and treatment is of paramount importance. Tunable optical properties and absorption in the near infra-red region of the ternary QDs makes them useful as fluorescent probes in cancer detection and treatment. They have the ability to detect specific cancer cells including those that are not easily detected by modern imaging technique. Also, properties such as non-bleaching, stability, water solubility etc. made them a desirable fluorophore when compared to conventional dyes. Most cancer drugs suffer from inherent shortcomings such as limited absorption, insolubility and aggregation. However, these shortcomings can be overcome when these drugs are applied in form of conjugated systems. The use of QDs as conjugates has revolutionise the treatment of cancer in the 21st century. This review provides information about the synthesis strategies, optical properties, hydrophilization and bioconjugation of ternary I-III-VI QDs. Furthermore, we described the various biomedical applications in biosensors, bioimaging, drug delivery and phototherapeutic techniques. Finally, we looked at the challenges and future perspective of these QDs in cancer management.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Key concept of ternary QDs	2
	2.1. Ternary QDs core/shell system	2
	2.2. Synthesis of ternary I-III-VI QDs	3
	2.2.1. Hot injection method	3
	2.2.2. Heating up method	3
	2.2.3. Solvothermal method	3
	2.2.4. Hydrothermal method	3
	2.2.5. Microwave irradiation method	3
3.	Hydrophilization of ternary QDs	4
4.	Bioconjugation to biomolecules	4
5.	Biomedical applications of ternary QDs	6
	5.1. Biosensors	6
	5.2. Bioimaging applications	7

E-mail address: oluwafemi.oluwatobi@gmail.com (O.S. Oluwafemi).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Chemical Sciences (formerly Applied Chemistry), University of Johannesburg, P.O. Box 17011, Doornfontein 2028, Johannesburg, South Africa.

		5.2.1.	Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)	7	
		5.2.2.	Optical imaging	7	
	5.3.	Drug de	livery	8	
	5.4.	Photo-th	nerapeutic applications	8	
6. Toxicity of ternary I-III-VI ODs					
7.	Conclu	sion and	future perspective	g	
	Declaration of competing interest				
	Refere	nces		ç	

1. Introduction

Cancer management globally has been challenging. Globally, around 9.6 million cancer related cases were recorded in 2018 and new cases rose to 18.1 million [1]. The cancer burden is projected to double by 2035 [2]. This figure exceeds the death from malaria, HIV and tuberculosis combined and thus calls for serious action. Non-availability of cancer treatment facilities and little or no access to conclusive diagnoses at various hospitals in developing countries have been major setbacks in tackling this terminal ailment. Accurate diagnosis through the excellent imaging of cancer cells, drug effectiveness and ability to deliver the cancer drug to the specific site are all essential for proper cancer management. Most cancer cases are detected after the tumour have been developed which makes the treatment difficult and sometimes ineffective. On the other hand, most cancer drugs suffer from inherent shortcomings such as limited absorption, insolubility and aggregation. However, these shortcomings can be overcome when these drugs are applied in the form of conjugated systems [3,4].

Quantum dots (QDs) are semiconductor nanomaterials with inherent ability that allows them to emit fluorescence when exposed to light [5,6]. QDs have continued to receive more attention from researchers due to their unique optical, magnetic and photo-physical properties which made them useful as biomedical materials, solar cells, catalyst and so on [7].

Ternary QDs from group I–III–VI elements have received growing interest in cancer management owing to their lower toxicity and radiation stability. Due to their specificity and biosensitivity, ternary QDs conjugates has the potential of detecting specific cancer cells (such as HeLa cells and HER-2 breast cancer cells) including those which are not easily detected by modern imaging techniques such as Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and X-rays [8,9].

Furthermore, conjugated ternary QDs can also be used for targeted drug delivery i.e delivery of the cancer drug to where it will be most effective without harming the healthy tissues. This ultimately ensure effective treatment under small amount and lower cost of medication. Ternary QDs also possess photothermal properties which can heat the cancer cells when used as conjugates with cancer drugs [5,10]. Exploiting specific binding properties of QDs conjugates as a mechanism for selective delivery of cancer drugs to tumour cells would be a major solution to the menace of cell-killing agents for treating cancer. Apart from ternary QDs, certain studies have also described carbon based QD (such as carbon quantum dots, graphene quantum dots, C3N quantum dots, and g-C3N4 quantum dots) as a non-toxic QD useful for biological and biomedical applications [11-13]. However, they differ from ternary I-III-VI QD in terms of composition, structure and mostly importantly in fluorescence ability [14].

The biomedical and biological applications of ternary QDs have been reported by several authors [15,16]. In this review, most of the reference materials are related to the application of ternary QDs in biomedical applications for cancer treatment. We will be looking at the various synthetic approach, the techniques employed in improving photoluminescence, quantum yield and

optical properties of QDs as it relates to their core shell systems. Furthermore, we will also study the biological applications of ternary QDs particularly AIS, CuInS and CuInSe in drug delivery, imaging, biosensor, bioconjugation etc. The toxicity of these QDs will also be discussed.

2. Key concept of ternary QDs

Unlike binary QDs, ternary I–III–VI QDs (I = Cu or Ag, III = Ga or In and VI = S or Se) consist of less toxic elements (devoid of Cd, Hg etc.). They are regarded as promising candidates for developing QDs that are eco-friendly due to their favourable optical properties and low toxicity [17]. Optical properties of QDs can be tunable due to quantum confinement effect. Quantum confinement takes place when the QDs attain a size less or equal to that of the Bohr's radius [18–20].

Variances in the atomic composition of ternary QDs distorts their size, this distortion in size affects the band gap. The change in band gap and size permits them to emit photons from the visible to the near infra-red region. The emission of photons as a result of variance in atomic composition enables the tuning of the absorption spectra [21,22]. Their usefulness in bio imaging, phototherapy, drug delivery and biosensing can be attributed to their size dependent optical properties and tunable emissions to the near infrared region [23,24]. Ternary QDs showed band gaps of 1.05 eV, 1.5 eV, 1.87 eV and 1.2 eV for CISe, CIS, AIS and AISe respectively [25,26]. In addition to this, ternary QDs are found to have a large coefficient of absorption, excellent photostability, high quantum yield, good luminescence decay time and large stoke shift [27-29]. Tunable emission spectra of ternary I-III-VI QDs makes them a good candidate for biomedical applications as fluorescence is an important parameter for majority of medical research [30,31].

2.1. Ternary QDs core/shell system

Ternary I–III–VI QDs synthesised as core QDs show low quantum yield and surface defects [32,33]. This occurs due to their high surface to volume ratio as a result of their small size. Therefore, adequate surface passivation is important to ensure increase in quantum yield, fluorescence and stability. In other to improve quantum yield, ensure stability and minimise or reduced surface defect, the core surface is usually coated with shell materials possessing a larger band. The choice of shell materials is dependent on the desired application of the QDs. The use of Zn^{2+} and ZnS as shell materials for ternary QDs with focus on biological applications are widely discussed in this review. Core/shell QDs systems allows for the modification of properties for suitability in various biomedical and industrial applications. Thermal stability, dispersibility and functionality of the core can be modified when coated with appropriate shell material.

Taking into consideration, band alignment between the conduction and valence band of the core materials, core/shell QD systems can be classified into type I, type II and quasi type II [17, 34]. In type I core/shell systems, the energy of the conduction band of the core is lower than that of the shell while reverse is the case for the valence band [34]. The holes and electrons are enclosed within the core. In type II core/shell systems, the electrons and holes are present in two different compartments, causing the rate of recombination of the charged carriers to be slow. The slow rate of recombination of the charge carriers is the reason for the increased luminescence lifetime exhibited by type II core/shell systems [35]. In Quasi type II core/shell systems, one carrier is localised in the core or shell while the other is delocalised as a whole particle.

ZnS is much preferred as a shell material due to the following reasons; (i) wider band gap (3.7 ev) and a small ionic size of zinc, this enables proper band alignment with the ternary QDs (ii) the structure of ZnS ensures the removal of trap states and prevents leakage caused by the charge carriers in the ternary QDs [36,37]. In another study, Speranskaya et al. [38] reported a 52% improvement in photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) after shelling CIS core with ZnS. The schematic representation for the synthesis of CIS/Zn core/shell system is shown in Fig. 1. The emission range of these core/Zn shells make them suitable for biological application. Studies have confirmed the suitability of ZnS as shell materials with ternary QDs. With CuInS₂ core, Chen et al. [39] reported a QY of 88% and PL of 500–800 nm; Huang et al. [40] reported a QY of 88% and PL of 400–800 nm to mention a few.

2.2. Synthesis of ternary I-III-VI QDs

The synthesis of ternary QDs can be challenging and their chemistry can be complex owing to the chemical properties of the precursor cations. In^{3+} is a hard lewis acid while Cu^+ and Ag^+ are soft lewis acid. Due to this, their reaction with sulphur compounds leads to the formation of unbalanced cationic precursors. Consequently, the product formed contains more of copper, silver and indium sulphides than the ternary QDs. To achieve good reaction yield, the reactivity of Cu and In has to be regulated. This can be achieved through; (i) the use of a suitable capping ligand e.g carboxylic acid, thiols (ii) the use of stabilising agents (iii) using a single precursor which can produce both cations (Cu and In) precursors [42,43].

Several methods for the synthesis of ternary I–III–VI QD core shell systems have been reported (see Fig. 2, Tables 1 and 2). They include; hot injection method [44,45], solvothermal method [46, 47], microwave assisted method [48], hydrothermal [26,49] and heating up method [33,50]. During synthesis, factors such as temperature and time, temperature of injection (particular to hot injection method), pH, nature of solvent utilised, reactivity and stoichiometry of precursors are vital to ensure the desired size and composition of the QDs.

2.2.1. Hot injection method

This method involves the reaction of precursors and surfactants at very high temperature in the presence of stabilisers. Coordinating solvent and surfactants are heated in a reacting chamber in the presence of an inert gas (nitrogen or argon). After which precursors are rapidly injected into the hot solution leading to supersaturation. Consequently, the precursors become aggregated therefore inducing nucleation and growth of the nuclei. The size distribution of the QDs is dependent on the speed of injection. Narrow size distribution is enhanced through fast injection. This method of synthesis is associated with monodispersed QDs. It is said to be a technique that gives high quality and pure QDs [34]. Researchers have employed this method in the synthesis of ternary QDs. Zhong et al. [20] synthesised CuInSe with photoluminescence quantum yield (PLQY) of 50% for in vivo bio-imaging applications; Liu et al. [51] synthesised AgInS₂, with PLQY of 30% and emission peak in the range of 480-900 nm. In another development, Deng et al. [52] synthesised AISe₂ with PLQY of 40%, and emission peak also in the range of 600-1000 nm. ZnS was used as shell materials to improve the optical properties of the QDs in all of the highlighted cases.

2.2.2. Heating up method

This method can also be referred to as the non-injection method. Reaction solutions are prepared at low temperature and heated up for crystallisation to take place at a high temperature. The heating up process is achieved via decomposition of metal salt in the presence of surfactant and solvent with high boiling point. The size distribution of the QDs is determined by nature of crystallisation and the reactivity of the precursors determines the reaction temperature. In this method, supersaturation is instantaneous and accompanied by a fast crystallisation. This method is effective for size, morphology and elemental control of the QDs. CuInS₂/ZnS [36], AgInTe₂ /ZnS [53] and AgInSe₂ [54] have been produced using heating up approach with emission peak in the range of biomedical applications. This synthetic approach is suitable for large scale synthesis as large amount of precursors can be used in a large volume reactor.

2.2.3. Solvothermal method

This approach offers several advantages when compared to the other synthetic methods. The synthesis environment enhances the formation of crystals with little lattice defects leading to the effective control of the shape and size distribution of the QDs. Secondly, the use of low boiling point organic solvent permits a higher reaction pressure when reaction occur at a higher temperature. This behaviour largely affects the crystallinity of the QDs. Thirdly, certain structural properties of the precursors can be transferred to the product for the effective control of the morphology of the products. Finally, this process consumes less energy and does not involve the use of costly solvents. CuInSe₂/ZnS [55], CuInSe₂ [56] and CuInS₂ [57] have been synthesised via the solvothermal approach with emission peaks in the range of biomedical applications. Solvothermal synthesis reduces the release of harmful vapour during reaction making the process environmentally friendly.

2.2.4. Hydrothermal method

In the field of nanochemistry, green chemistry approach for the synthesis of nanoparticles is highly desirable. Cost effectiveness and environmental friendliness of the process is the aim of most researchers. One of the advantages of this method is the use of non-toxic solvent and reagents. This process does not necessary require synthesis in an inert atmosphere thus making the synthesis cost effective. The synthesis is achieved by the reaction between a metal precursor and surface ligands. The precursor used are mostly water-soluble metallic nitrates and halide while the sulphur sources are usually Na₂S [58] and thiourea (CS(NH₂)₂ [59]. The advantage offered by this approach include; (i) good product yield (ii) use of non-toxic solvent and reagents (iii) low cost of synthesis (iv) reproducibility [60,61]. The first attempt of synthesising AIS by Luo et al. [62] using this method resulted into a low OY. However, for effectiveness in bio-medical applications it is necessary for QDs to have a high QY, to be water dispersible and to be biocompatible. Several studies have shown that the use of hydrophilic ligands as sulphur sources such as dodecanethiol [27], I-Cysteine [63] and diethyldithiocarbonate [64] have produced water soluble ternary QDs with good QY suitable for biomedical applications.

2.2.5. Microwave irradiation method

Synthesis of ternary QDs using microwave irradiation technique is gaining much attention due to the numerous advantages it offers. In this method, the synthesis is carried out at the boiling point of the solvent, therefore enabling the production of small particle size QDs at normal pressure. The product formed is of high purity with a fast reaction time. Reproducibility and product yield are also enhanced. AIS QDs was synthesised using



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of ternary CIS/Zn core/shell system [41].

the microwave assisted approach by Xiong et al.^a [65] via a two-step approach and using ZnS as shell material. The product obtained showed low toxicity, good fluorescence and emission range suitable for *in vivo* bio-imaging application. QDs have been synthesised by various researchers using this synthetic approach. AgInS₂ [66], CuGaSe₂ [67] CuInS₂ [68]. The small size, biocompatibility and thermal stability of these QDs makes them useful for biological applications [17].

3. Hydrophilization of ternary QDs

Fluorescent QDs of high quality are usually synthesised using non-polar solvent at a high temperature, as a result they have hydrophobic surfaces. This can be attributed to the presence of aliphatic amines, carboxylic acids, alkyl phosphines etc. Meanwhile for effective applications of these QDs in cancer management they require water dispersibility, biocompatibility and presence of active sites for subsequent functional conjugation. Therefore, functionalisation of their surface is mandatory to ensure solubility in aqueous solutions. Strategies need to be employed for the conversion of the hydrophobic phase to hydrophilic. There are three strategies to this as shown in Fig. 3. These are; ligand exchange, Salinisation and encapsulation [79–81].

Ligand exchange is achieved by substituting the hydrophobic surface of the QDs with hydrophilic molecules that can easily bind with the QDs surface. The surface ligand ensures the QDs are dispersed in aqueous media and also protects the core from leaching into the biological environment. These conditions are essential for successful in vitro and in vivo biological applications [82]. Widely used ligands are thiol groups (due to their affinity for metals), amines and carboxylic acids [83]. In this approach, the hydrodynamic size of the QDs is retained and allows for monodispersity of the QDs in aqueous media. This improves their ability for FRET based sensing and makes them good candidates for biological applications [84]. When choosing the appropriate ligand, utmost consideration should be given to the affinity that exist between the ligand and the QDs. However, some limitations are associated with this method, conditions such as concentration, pH and temperature affect the stability of the attached ligand. In order to overcome this limitation and to create opportunities for wider biological applications, thiol containing molecules such as L-cysteine [85] and polyethylene glycol-dihydrolipoic acid (PEG-DHLA) [86] have been used for the functionalisation and solubilisation of QDs with a major improvement in in vivo and in vitro stability. Kim et al. [87] in their work on the synthesis of CuInS₂/Zn core/shell quantum dots replaced the initially aliphatic capped surface ligand with a hydroxyl-terminated thiol ligand. The functionalised QDs displayed improved dispersibility in polar solvents. The synthesis of 1-dodecanethiol (DDT) capped

CuInS₂/ZnS QDs was reported by Li et al. [88]. The QDs was transferred to the aqueous phase by functionalising the surface with DHLA. The functionalised QDs was successfully used as labels for *in vivo* imaging. The main difficulty encountered in this method is the susceptibility to oxidation of the thiol group and the attached ligand. This can further degenerate to the reduction in fluorescence QYs and formation of aggregates.

The salinisation method is based on the well-known silica chemistry developed for the coating of metallic nanoparticles. This method has advantages due to the non-toxicity, inertness and optical transparency of the coated silica surface. In this approach, a formation of highly linked protective shell takes place around the QDs. This is due to the reaction between polymerised methoxysilane groups and the thiol group of the precursor molecule used for hydrophilisation of the QDs surface. Mercaptopropyltrimethoxysilane (MPTMOS) is a typical example of a precursor used for this purpose [89]. The major advantage of this method is that silica exhibits a high level of biocompatibility and can be easily functionalised thereby making them suitable for conjugation. Consequently, QDs emanating from this approach are good candidates for bioanalytical applications [90].

In the third approach, the surfaces of QDs are encapsulated with amphiphiles with the use of non-polar molecules as reaction intermediates. The hydrophobic shell of QDs interacts with that of the amphiphilic polymeric material through electronic or hydrophobic interaction while the hydrophilic portion ensures solubility thereby providing aqueous stability. Several amphiphilic polymers have been used in this approach, such as Polymaleic anhydride [91], Polyacrylamide [92] or biopolymers such as DNA/RNA [93]. Polyethylene glycols (PEG)-based coating are applied to the QDs to ensure stability and biocompatibility. However, for effective application of these QDs in bioanalytical processes, it is important for the PEG molecules to be activated with the suitable thiol, amine or carboxylic groups in order to enable the formation of hydrophilic cross links between the QDs surface and the PEG layer [94,95]. This method is an improvement on the ligand exchange method as it addresses the shortcomings of aggregation and poor luminescence quantum yield. In this approach, the optical properties and size of this QDs remain unchanged.

Surface modification and functionalisation of QDs is important to ensure stability, solubility in various solvents and for the development of a QD-biomolecule conjugate that will be useful in specific biomedical applications such as detection, bioimaging and therapeutics.

4. Bioconjugation to biomolecules

For water soluble QDs to be relevant in biomedical applications such as bioimaging, drug delivery and other biological



Fig. 2. Mechanism of various synthetic methods: Illustration of various synthetic strategies (i) Hydrothermal (ii) microwave irradiated (iii) solvothermal (iv) hot injection and (v) heating up method for synthesis of I-III-VI core and core/shell QDs [34].

Table 1

Characteristics of different synthetic methods of tertiary QDs.

Synthetic method	Advantage	Disadvantage
Solvothermal	Size control, minimal release of toxic vapours, control of morphology and crystallinity of the QDs	Requires the use of organic solvent
Hot Injection	Size control and good QY	An inert atmosphere is required, use of organic solvent not suitable for large scale synthesis
Heating up method	Effective for large scale synthesis and reproducibility	Carried out at high temperature and organic is solvent required
Hydrothermal	Cheap, environmentally friendly and water soluble	Low photoluminescence QY and poor size control
Microwave irradiated	Environmentally friendly, energy consumption is low, pressure and temperature can be controlled, rapid nuclear growth, reduced time of crystal formation and narrow size distribution	Low PLQY

Table 2

Overview of synthetic methods and applications of tertiary QDs.

Synthetic method	QD NP	Application	Reference no
Solvothermal	AISe ₂	Biological detection and labelling	[69]
	CIS/ZnS	in-vivo imaging	[70]
Hot injection	CISe/ZnS	<i>in-vivo</i> imaging	[71]
	CISe/ZnSe	Biolabelling, bioimaging	[72]
	AIS/ZnS	Bioimaging	[73]
Heating up method	CIS/Zn	bio detection	[74]
	AIS/Zns	in-vivo imaging	[36]
Hydrothermal	CIS	in-vivo imaging	[75]
	AIS/Zn	fluorescence imaging	[76]
Microwave irradiated	AIS	High contrast cell imaging	[77]
	CIS/ZnS	Biodetection and bio-imaging	[78]

applications they must be bonded to functional biomolecules such as proteins, enzymes, antibodies and nucleic acids [97]. Irrespective of the final use, the application of QDs in biological systems is dependent on their ability to undergo bioconjugation in a well-controlled and desired manner. An assembly that pairs a



Fig. 3. Approaches to hydrophilization of QDs [96].

QDs to a biological molecule regardless of the chemistry of bonding is known as a QDs conjugate [98]. In biological applications of QDs, the biomolecule should be attached in such a manner that the inherent properties of the QDs will not be distorted. Bioconjugation of biomolecules to QDs surfaces involves two main approaches: Covalent linking and non-covalent binding [96]. In covalent conjugation, molecules are coupled to the QDs surface or the ligand attached to the QDs with the help of cross-linking molecules with reactive functional groups. For conjugation of functional biomolecules to take place there must be different binding affinities. This include the use of bifunctional ligand such as mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) and DHLA which can join the QDs surface to the biomolecule including proteins (albumen, antibodies) and nucleic acids [99]. An appreciable number of possible reactions by which biomolecules can be bonded covalently with surface ligands of QDs have been described in literature [96, 98,100]. They include bonding through biotin/streptavidin [101], 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (EDC) and N-Hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) coupling [102].

Non-covalent conjugation strategy involves the electrostatic attachment between the biomolecule and QDs surface, and encapsulation or adsorption on the surface using engineered protein molecules. This approach involves the non-specific adsorption of molecules such as polymers, protein, enzymes and so on. Adsorption is made possible due to the large surface area of the QDs which enables the non-selective binding of the molecules independent of any functional attachment [80]. The mechanism of adsorption is based on electrostatic interaction with the QDs surface and oppositely charged biomolecules [101]. The choice of the method to use is based on certain properties of the QDs such as chemical composition, the presence or absence of ligands and active sites, size of the QDs and the chemical nature of the QDs [89]. Due to the large area to volume ratio, series of different biomolecule can be attached to a single QDs for multifunctioning. Several studies have shown that surfaces of ternary QDs conjugated with biomolecule in a well-controlled manner has the ability of binding, adsorbing and transporting drugs and protein. This, makes them good candidates for cancer management in relation to detection, drug delivery to mention a few. Tsolekile et al. [5] carried out the synthesis of TPPS4-CuInS/ZnS conjugates, results from the study showed an improved singlet oxygen quantum yield from 0.19 before conjugation to 0.69 upon conjugation (Fig. 4). In another study, Michalska et al. [103] synthesised ZCIS-peptide conjugate as nanoprobe for cancer imaging. The result from the study reveals that the conjugates was effective as fluorescence nanoprobes for selective labelling of HER2-positive cancer cells (Fig. 5)

5. Biomedical applications of ternary QDs

Core and core/shell QDs have found several applications in the field of biomedicine. A lot of studies have been carried out with regards to this [104–106]. Ternary QDs have been used for *in vivo* and *in vitro* imaging, detection/localisation, and treatment of cancer cells due to their unique properties such as broad absorption range in the NIR region, narrow emission, phototherapic abilities, large stoke shift etc. Precisely, they find applications in biosensing, targeted drug delivery system, bio-imaging and tissue engineering.

In this section we provided a general overview on certain biomedical applications of ternary QDs.

5.1. Biosensors

Fluorescent biosensors have been used for the effective diagnosis of diseases at the cellular level. In comparison with conventional organic dyes and fluorophores, QDs displays better photo-chemical and photophysical properties therefore, making it them a better candidate for fluorescence probes in biosensing applications. Ternary QDs are however considered more ideal due to their stability, low toxicity and affordability as against Cd based QDs. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) QDbased biosensors have been widely used for the detection of biomolecules such as sugars, DNA, RNA, cancerous cells, cancer biomarkers etc. [107,108]. Renuga et al. [109] synthesised CuInS₂ – based core multishell nanocrystals with low cytotoxicity and described their usefulness as an effective bioimaging probe and, as an attractive candidate as biological contrasting agent.

Immunoassay is important in regard to clinical diagnosis, testing and biomedical applications. QD-based sensing immunoassay showed detection of toxins, drug residues, chemical residues, and biomarkers. Xiong et al.^b [110] used CuInS₂/ZnS NPs as signal labels for a fluoroimmunoassay of the biomarker IL-6, and they were found useful in applications for biomarkers of cancer. Zhu et al. [111] used QD based immunoassay for the detection of water pathogens. Biotinylated antibody was coupled to the coated QDs and the result showed an improvement over the conventional staining kits due to better photostability of the QDs. They also observed a much-improved signal to noise ratio for the QDs. Anti-body conjugated QDs was used for multicolour cellular staining by Wu et al. [112] The study revealed that the QDs showed more resistance to photobleaching (oxidation process that makes them lose their fluorescence) relative to the



Fig. 4. Schematic illustration of the conjugation of CIS/ZnS and meso-tetra-(4-sulfonatophenyl) porphyrin (TPPS4) [5].



Fig. 5. Schematic illustration of $CuInZn_xS_{2+x}$ QDs conjugated with peptide [103].

conventionally used organic dyes under constant illumination. Antibodies conjugated QDs can be applied for the detection of cancer biomarkers in immunoassays. More research work is still required to be carried out on the copper and silver ternary QDs to explore their potential towards biomedical applications.

5.2. Bioimaging applications

Imaging is an essential modality used in deciding an efficient cancer therapy. Imaging tools are important for diagnostics and therapeutic monitoring processes, and they have been used extensively in cancer therapy [113]. However, modern imaging techniques has some limitations. They are not very sensitive to small number of malignant cells and the inability to locate specific cancer cell surface markers. In a lot of cases, these cell surface markers assist in the diagnosis of cancerous growth. Therefore, it is important to improve on imaging techniques or develop very sensitive and biospecific imaging probes. Ternary QDs due to their excellent properties such as narrow tunable emission spectra, non-toxicity, photo-physical properties have been used in bioimaging applications such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and optical imaging [5,114].

5.2.1. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

Unique features such as non-invasiveness and strong contrast in soft tissues makes MRI a valuable imaging tool for cancer diagnosis. MRI produces the 3D image of the human body without using an ionisation radiation. MRI images consist of two imaging modes; longitudinal weighed (T_1) and transverse (T_2) weighed images [17]. In order to achieve molecular imaging in MRI, targeted contrast agents are necessary. These contrast agents have the ability of speeding up the T_1 and T_2 relaxation rate in cancer cells which in turn increase the contrast between normal and cancer cells. Metallic doped magnetic ternary I–III–VI QDs are widely used as contrast agents in MRI measurements due to their absorption in biological window and fluorescent transitions. In their work Yu et al. [115] prepared Gd doped CIS/ZnS QD using the hot injection method and used it as a biomodal bioimaging nanoprobe. The results showed the doped CIS/Zn QDs produced an enhanced MRI contrast while still exhibiting strong PL emission. Furthermore, Yang et al. [116] in their study ascertained that Gd (III) chelate conjugating CIS QDs can enhance NIR fluorescence and MRI imaging.

5.2.2. Optical imaging

In biomedical research, optical imaging is important in providing *in vivo* and *in vitro* information with high resolution. This imaging tool can provide multiple images thereby giving it usefulness for surgery and endoscopic processes. It is also employed for image guided surgical operation of tumours and detection of cancer cells. Due to their unique properties such as high QY, high resistance to photobleaching and long photoluminescent lifetime, ternary QDs can be used for targeted fluorescence imaging where tissues or cells are labelled with ternary QDs. This is applicable to both *in vivo* and *in vitro* processes. Regulacio et al. [117] in their study synthesised luminescent AgInS₂-Zn QDs (ZAIS), the synthesised QDs exhibited long fluorescence lifetimes, optical and colloidal stability in physiologically relevant pH values with a relatively low cytotoxicity and has high potential for use in biological labelling The authors demonstrated that the synthesised ODs when attached to baculoviral vectors can effectively enter and label the cells. This is an indication of its possible application in monitoring the transduction efficiency in baculovirus-mediated gene therapy. Fahmi and Chang [118] synthesised a double layer (alkyl-capping AgInS2-Zn) QDs, the alkyl layer consists of terminal groups (carboxyl and thiols) which served as reactive sites for other materials. The resultant DL-alkyl ZAIS QD was conjugated with folate for staining Human liver (HEPG₂) and human breast (MCF-7) cancer cells. Confocal imaging revealed the folate conjugated ZAIS QDs were successfully docked at the tumour site. PEG conjugated Zn-doped AgInS₂ QDs displayed good water stability in water and PBS. When coated with silica, the cell imaging demonstration of the resultant material was successful [119]. Liu et al. [120] in their study found peptide conjugated CISe/ZnS QDs to be good tumour targeting imaging probes.

More research work is still required in the *in vivo* and *in vitro* applications of CIS/ZnS, CISe/ZnS, AIS/ZnS, AISe/ZnS QDs [34]. Improvement in technology and instrumentation reveals the limitations of each of this imaging techniques. However, solutions to these limitations are being provided from time to time as more researches are been carried out.

5.3. Drug delivery

In cancer therapy, the effectiveness of a drug is measured by its ability to deliver the appropriate quantity of the drug at a controlled rate and time to the desired site. Toxicity, poor targeting and non-selectiveness are the side effects accompanying the use of anti-cancer drugs [121]. Ternary QDs base drug delivery system ensures the release of a drug at the particular site or organ at a controlled rate which is far more preferable over the conventional uncontrolled release throughout the body. Increased capacity for drug loading, controlled release profile and improved therapeutic index of the drugs makes QDs a good candidate for drug delivery systems [122]. Using certain coupling strategies, the QDs can be functionalised by a range of cancer-targeting moieties such as anti-cancer drugs, folic acid and aptamer. QDs drug delivery system have unique ways of releasing drugs for effective target drug delivery. At the beginning it comes as an outbreak release and then shows a constant release over a stretch of time. This means the efficiency of the drugs can be maintained over a long stretch of time, at limited concentration, fewer intervals, and lower doses thereby reducing the side effects of these drugs on the patient [123]. For effective and concise target delivery, monitoring of pH, temperature and biological reactions is very important.

For a QDs to be efficient in drug delivery systems it should have the following properties [124]: (i) It must not interact with the drug (ii) the drug loading ability and encapsulation efficiency should be high (iii) long residence time in vivo (iv) excellent biocompatibility and should be non-toxic (v) good mechanical strength, stability and shape. Several works have been reported on drug delivery systems using ODs; Wu et al. [125] reported the covalent coupling of anticancer drug, methotrexate (MTX) to the surface of AgInS₂/ZnS QDs. Result from the study reveals that the QD-MTX conjugate displayed good biocompatibility in MTT assays and showed negligible cytotoxicity in HeLa cells. CIS QDs bonded with doxorubicin (DOX), an anti-cancer drug was reported to effectively deliver DOX to the targeted cancer cells [59]. In another study, Girma et al. [126] described the conjugation of synthesised CuFeS₂ NPs with anti-cancer drug cisplatin (IV). The study revealed that the CuFeS₂ NPs drug conjugate reduced the side effect of the drug on normal tissues.

5.4. Photo-therapeutic applications

The aim of biomedical researchers is to develop alternative methods for cancer treatment that are safe, efficient and cost effective. Photo-therapeutic methods such as photodynamic therapy (PDT) and photo-thermal therapy (PTT) are preferred due to the following reasons; (i) surgery is not required (ii) noninvasiveness (iii) it is cost effective and (iv) little or no side effect [127]. Photodynamic therapy is a treatment procedure that uses a photosensitiser selectively localised to a target tissue followed by light irradiation. The photosensitiser has the ability to change molecular oxygen from the triplet oxygen to the singlet state (¹O₂) when exposed to single wavelength light. The energy released for the transition from the triplet ground state to the singlet excited state leads to the formation of by-products (peroxide, radicals) and results in the destruction of surrounding tumours and cancer cells via the singlet oxygen. Optical properties of QDs have been improved by the introduction of ternary QDs. Due to this improvement, these QDs penetrates more into the tissues as they do not experience much barrier from blood, pigments and melanin [128]. PTT photo-therapeutic technique involves the generation of hyperthermia from near infra-red (NIR) photoabsorbers for the destruction of surrounding cancer cells. This technique destroys cancerous cells in primary tumour or when combined with other therapeutic technique. The use of QDs as a therapeutic agent in PTT offers advantages such as spatiotemporal selectivity, rapid treatment, affordability and minimal side effect [17,129]. Fig. 5 shows a schematic illustration of the use of ZCIS for imaging and therapy applications. Other PTT agents have been employed including; gold nanoparticles [130,131] due to its ability to enhance the effect of radiotherapy on tumours, carbon nanorods [132] due to their excellent light to heat energy conversion and nano scale metal organic particles (NMOPs) [133] (see Fig. 6).

6. Toxicity of ternary I-III-VI QDs

Toxicity of QDs has been a major challenge over the years (Zhu et al. 2020). The level of toxicity would determine the intrinsic toxic behaviour of the QDs. The surface modification, the stability of the ligands, pharmacokinetics, method of administration etc. are to be cautiously considered [135]. Furthermore, it is important that the QDs should be eradicated from the body as soon as possible after administration.

In spite of all the progress and achievement in the study of QDs, their toxicity is not yet clearly understood. in vitro and in vivo studied has been carried out at various concentrations, size and structure, exposure time etc. thereby making it difficult to predict the toxic nature of newly synthesised QDs. Toxicity of QDs depends on certain properties such as size, charge, concentration, outer functional group, and oxidative and photolytic activity [136, 137]. The ability to eliminate QDs as fast as possible from the body is a major factor in determining the clinical application of any in vivo treatment. Studies have shown that QDs with a size < 5 nm can be removed through renal pathways, while those within the range of 10-20 nm can be consumed by the liver and those with sizes > 200 nm can be filtered through the reticuloendothelial system [138–140]. On introduction to the cancer cell, the QDs spread around the cell, they get consumed by the cancer cell, and localised intracellularly so that therapeutic action can occur [17].

However ternary I–III–VI QDs have exhibited lower toxicity over time as several studies have attested to it. Shinchi et al. [141] observed low toxicity of AIS/ZnS NPs when attached to sugarchain-fluorescent NPs for imaging and biosensing applications. The study further reveals the suitability of this QDs for bioimaging



Fig. 6. Scheme illustration of ZCIS QDs used as theranostic nanomedicines with intrinsic fluorescence/MSOT imaging and PTT/PDT therapy abilities [134].

applications. CIS/Zns QDs have been found to exhibit minimal *in vivo* local toxicity when adult zebra fish were exposed to the freshly prepared QDs. Girmal et al. [142] in their study also observed reduced local toxicity when CuFeS₂ was injected into an adult zebra fish. Their desirable properties such as tunable photoluminescence, high PLQY, high chemical and photo stability might have contributed to this [17,143].

Ternary QDs-drug conjugate can be easily taken up and absorbed by the body cells when applied due to their optical and structural properties such as excellent luminescence, direct band gap, non/low toxicity, large stokes shift [28,144]. Also, conjugate system has the ability of delivering the cancer drug to where it will be most effective and quick elimination without harming the healthy cells [9].

Conclusively, more work studies are still required to fully comprehend the toxicity of ternary I–III–VI QDs. Study on experimental conditions, dosages, experimental cell lines for *in vitro* studies, and animal models for *in vivo* studies should shed more light on the toxicity of these QDs as they are not totally benign to living systems.

7. Conclusion and future perspective

In this review, we discussed the synthesis, properties and applications of ternary QDs with major focus on the recent development of ternary I-III-VI core/shell QDs for cancer management. The synthetic methods, surface modification, bioconjugation and applications relating to cancer treatment such as biosensing, bioimaging, drug delivery, diagnosis and therapy have been described. Ternary QDs has gained much attention among researchers due to their low toxicity (devoid of Cd and Pb atoms), tunable emission and broad absorption spectra from the range of UV to near IR, higher QY and large stoke shift. These excellent properties enable their application in cancer phototheranostic procedure such as PDT, PTT, bioimaging and biosensors. The use of these non-toxic ternary QDs as photosensitisers in PDT has overcome the problem of poor tissue penetration during cancer treatment due to their ability to act as a good electron acceptor and donor to produce ROS and ¹O₂ for PDT [145,146]. The excitation wavelength in the NIR range exhibited by I-III-VI QDs enables deeper penetration into tissues when applied in PDT.

QD nanoprobes have also been considered suitable for biosensors, MRI and drug delivery systems in the therapy and management of cancers. Furthermore, in addition to careful material composition, bioconjugation of ternary QDs with engineered surface material such as protein, peptides etc. can lead to new biomedical applications. As the biological application of QDs is expanding as the days go by, effort should be intensified towards the design of multifunctional QDs for multipurpose therapeutic applications. For example, developing a QD that can both serve as a contrasting agent together with photodynamic therapy would be of immense benefit. The mechanism involved in the synthesis procedure still needs to be understood better so that properties such as morphology, quantum yield and photoluminescence could be effectively controlled. Even though ternary QDs shows low toxicity when compared to binary QDs, toxicity can further be reduced using surface modification materials such as engineered protein, biocompatible polymers etc. Research should also focus on the design of QDs for the effective therapeutic control and monitoring of malignant cells. The development of novel non-toxic ternary QDs will definitely create the possibility of challenging the frontier of present cancer research and contribute to the success of clinical trials. Existing synthetic strategies and routes can be employed to achieve the synthesis of other groups of ternary I-II-VI QD NPs in the nearest future.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- IARC Global Cancer Observatory: GLOBOCAN 2018 DATABASE Available at https://www.who.int/cancer/PRGlobocanFinal.pdf.
- [2] J. Ferlay, I. Soerjomataram, M. Ervik, et al., GLOBOCAN 2012 V1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France, 2013.
- [3] G. Varchi, V. Benfenati, A. Pistone, M. Ballestri, G. Sotgiu, A. Guerrini, P. Dambruoso, A. Liscio, B. Ventura, Core-shell poly-methylmethacrylate nanoparticles as effective carriers of electrostatically loaded anionic porphyrin, J. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 12 (2013) 760–769, http://dx.doi. org/10.1039/c2pp25393c, 9.
- [4] G.G. Parra, L.P. Ferreira, P.J. Gonçalves, S.V. Sizova, V.A. Oleinikov, V.N. Morozov, V.A. Kuzmin, I.E. Borissevitch, Stimulation of cysteinecoated CdSe/ZnS quantum dot luminescence by meso-tetrakis (psulfonatophenyl) porphyrin, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 13 (2018) 40–48, http://dx.doi. org/10.1186/s11671-018-2449.
- [5] N. Tsolekile, S. Nahle, N. Zikalala, O. Joubert, M.C. Matoetoe, S.P. Songca, O.S. Oluwatobi, Cytotoxicity, fluorescence tagging and gene-expression study of CuInS/ZnS QDS - meso (hydroxyphenyl) porphyrin conjugate against human monocytic leukemia cells, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020) 4936, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61881-8.
- [6] H. Zhang, D. Yee, C. Wang, Quantum dots for cancer diagnosis and therapy: Biological and clinical perspectives, Nanomedicine 3 (2008) 83–91, http://dx.doi.org/10.2217/17435889.3.1.83.
- [7] O.S. Oluwafemi, B.M.M. May, S. Parani, N. Tsolekile, Facile, large scale synthesis of water soluble AgInSe₂/ZnSe quantum dots and its cell viability assessment on different cell lines, Mater. Sci. Eng. 106 (2020) 110181, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.110181.

- [8] X. Bai, F. Purcell-Milton, Y.K. Gun'ko, Optical properties, synthesis, and potential applications of Cu-Based Ternary or quaternary anisotropic quantum dots, polytypic nanocrystals, and core/shell heterostructures, Nanomaterials(Basel) 9 (2019) 85, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3390/nano9010085.
- [9] K.T. Yong, I. Roy, R. Hu, H. Ding, H. Cai, J. Zhu, X. Zhang, E.J. Bergey, P.N. Prasad, Synthesis of ternary CuInS₂/ZnS quantum dot bioconjugates and their applications for targeted cancer bioimaging, Integr. Biol. 2 (2010) 121–129, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b916663g.
- [10] N. Tsolekile, S. Nelena, O.S. Oluwafemi, Porphyrin as diagnostic and therapeutic agent, Molecules 24 (2019) 2669, http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ molecules24142669.
- [11] G. Wang, Q. Guo, D. Chen, Z. Liu, X. Zheng, A. Xu, ..., G. Ding, Facile and highly effective synthesis of controllable Lattice Sulfur-Doped Graphene Quantum Dots via Hydrothermal Treatment of Durian, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 10 (6) (2018) 5750–5759, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 7b16002.
- [12] J. Li, S. Yang, Y. Deng, P. Chai, Y. Yang, X. He, ., X. Fan, Emancipating target-functionalized carbon dots from autophagy vesicles for a novel visualized Tumor Therapy, Adv. Funct. Mater. 28 (30) (2018) 1800881, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201800881.
- [13] J. Zhu, Y. Tang, G. Wang, J. Mao, Z. Liu, T. Sun, ., S. Yang, Green, rapid, and universal preparation approach of graphene quantum dots under ultraviolet irradiation, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 (16) (2017) 14470–14477, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsami.6b11525.
- [14] R.K. Singh, R. Kumar, D.P. Singh, R. Savu, S.A. Moshkalev, Progress in microwave-assisted synthesis of quantum dots (graphene/carbon/semiconducting) for bioapplications: a review, Mater. Today Chem. 12 (2019) 282–314, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mtchem. 2019.03.001.
- [15] C. Zhu, Z. Chen, S. Gao, B.L. Goh, I.B. Samsudin, K.W. Lwe, Y. Wu, C. Wu, X. Su, Recent advances in non-toxic quantum dots and their biomedical applications, Prog. Nat. Sci.: Mater. Int. 29 (6) (2019) 628–640.
- [16] D.S. Mazing, A.I. Shul'ga, L.B. Matyushkin, et al., Synthesis and characterization of colloidal nanocrystals of ternary chalcogenide compounds, Opt. Spectrosc. 122 (2017) 110–113, http://dx.doi.org/10.1134/ S0030400X17010179.
- [17] W.M. Girma, M.Z. Fahmi, A. Permadi, M.A. Abate, J.Y. Chang, Synthetic strategies and biomedical applications of I–III–VI ternary quantum dots, J. Mater. Chem. B 5 (2017) 6193–6216, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C7TB01156C.
- [18] M.G. Stanford, P.D. Rack, D. Jariwala, Emerging nanofabrication and quantum confinement techniques for 2D materials beyond graphene, 2D Mater. Appl. 2 (2018) 20, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41699-018-0065-3.
- [19] Y.E. Panfil, M. Oded, U. Banin, Colloidal quantum nanostructures: emerging materials for display applications, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 57 (2018) 4274–4295, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/anie.201708510.
- [20] H. Zhong, Z. Wang, E. Bovero, Z. Lu, F.C. van Veggel, G.D. Scholes, Colloidal CuInSe₂ nanocrystals in the quantum confinement regime: synthesis, optical properties, and electroluminescence, J. Phys. Chem. C 115 (2011) 12396–12402, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp204249j.
- [21] M. Smith, S. Nie, Chemical analysis and cellular imaging with quantum dots, Analyst 129 (2004) 672–677, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/B404498N.
- [22] B. Geng, D. Yang, D. Pan, L. Wang, F. Zheng, W. Shen, C. Zhang, X. Li, NIR-responsive carbon dots for efficient photothermal cancer therapy at low power densities, Carbon 134 (2018) 153–162, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1039/C9Q100201D.
- [23] S. Bharti, G. Kaur, S. Jain, S. Gupta, S.K. Tripathi, Characteristics and mechanism associated with drug conjugated inorganic nanoparticles, J. Drug Target 27 (2019) 813–829, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1061186X. 2018.1561888.
- [24] L. Yue, H. Li, Q. Liu, D. Guo, J. Chen, Q. Sun, Y. Xu, F. Wu, Manganesedoped carbon quantum dots for fluorometric and magnetic resonance (dual mode) bioimaging and biosensing, Microchim. Acta 186 (2019) 315, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00604-019-3407-8.
- [25] W.R. Algar, M.H. Stewart, A.M. Scott, W.J. Moon, I.L. Medintz, Quantum dots as platforms for charge transfer-based biosensing: challenges and opportunities, J. Mater. Chem. B 2 (2014) 7816–7827, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1039/c4tb00985a.
- [26] P.H. Chuang, C.C. Lin, R.-S. Liu, Emission-tunable CuInS2/ZnS quantum dots: structure, optical properties, and application in white light-emitting diodes with high color rendering index, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6 (2014) 15379–15387, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/am503889z.
- [27] B. Chen, H. Zhong, W. Zhang, Z.A. Tan, Y. Li, C. Yu, T. Zhai, Y. Bando, S. Yang, B. Zou, Highly emissive and color-tunable CuInS₂-based Colloidal semiconductor nanocrystals: Off-stoichiometry effects and improved electroluminescence performance, Adv. Funct. Mater. 22 (2012) 2081–2088, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201102496.

- [28] X. Kang, Y. Yang, L. Huang, Y. Tao, L. Wang, D. Pan, Large-scale synthesis of water-soluble CuInSe2/ZnS and AgInSe2/ZnS core/shell quantum dots, Green Chem. 17 (2015) 4482–4488, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C5GC00908A.
- [29] C.N. Mohan, V. Renuga, A. Manikandan, Influence of silver precursor concentration on structural, optical and morphological properties of Cu1-xAgxInS2 semiconductor nanocrystals, J. Alloys Compd. 729 (2017) 407–417, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2017.09.078.
- [30] H. Zhong, Z. Bai, B. Zou, Tuning the Luminescence Properties of Colloidal I–III–VI semiconductor nanocrystals for optoelectronics and biotechnology applications, J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 3 (2012) 3167–3175, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1021/jz301345x.
- [31] K.E. Knowles, K.H. Hartstein, T.B. Kilburn, A. Marchioro, H.D. Nelson, P.J. Whitham, D.R. Gamelin, Luminescent colloidal semiconductor nanocrystals containing copper: synthesis, photophysics, and applications, Chem. Rev. 116 (2016) 10820–10851, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev. 6b00048.
- [32] G. Kaur, S.K. Tripathi, Probing photoluminescence dynamics of colloidal CdSe/ZnS core/shell nanoparticles, J. Lumin. 155 (2014) 330–337, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2014.06.052.
- [33] S.H. Park, A. Hong, J.-H. Kim, H. Yang, K. Lee, H.S. Jang, Highly bright yellow-green-emitting CuInS₂ colloidal quantum dots with core/shell architecture for white light-emitting diodes, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 7 (2015) 6764–6771, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b00166.
- [34] S. Jain, S. Bharti, G.K. Bhullar, S.K. Tripathi, I-III-VI core/shell QDs: Synthesis, characterizations and applications, J. Lumin. 219 (2020) 116912, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2019.116912.
- [35] D. Dorfs, S. Hickey, A. Eychmüller, Type-I and Type-II core-shell quantum dots: Synthesis and characterization, Nanotechnol. Life Sci. http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/9783527610419.ntls0199.
- [36] D. Deng, Y. Chen, J. Cao, J. Tian, Z. Qian, S. Achilefu, Y. Gu, High-quality CuInS2/ZnS quantum dots for in vitro and in vivo bioimaging, Chem. Mater. 24 (2012) 3029–3037, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cm3015594.
- [37] X. Fang, Y. Bando, G. Shen, C. Ye, U.K. Gautam, P.M. Costa, C. Zhi, C. Tang, D. Golberg, Ultrafine ZnS nanobelts as field emmitters, Adv. Mater. 19 (2007) 2593–2596, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/adma.200700078.
- [38] E.S. Speranskaya, C. Sevrin, S.D. Saeger, Z. Hens, I. Y.Goryacheva, C. Grandfils, Synthesis of hydrophilic CuInS2/ZnS quantum dots with different polymeric shells and study of their cytotoxicity and hemocompatibility, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 8 (2016) 7613–7622, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1021/acsami.5b11258.
- [39] C.W. Chen, D.-Y. Wu, Y.C. Chan, C.C. Lin, P.-H. Chung, M. Hsiao, R.S. Liu, Evaluations of the chemical stability and cytotoxicity of CuInS2 and CuInS2/ZnS core/shell quantum dots, J. Phys. Chem. C 119 (2015) 2852–2860, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp510908f.
- [40] X. Huang, R. Yu, X. Yang, X. Xu, H. Zhang, D. Zhang, Efficient CuInS2/ZnS based quantum dot light emitting diodes by engineering the exciton formation interface, J. Lumin. 202 (2018) 339–344, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.jlumin.2018.05.063.
- [41] C. Xia, N. Winckelmans, P.T. Prins, S. Bals, H.C. Gerritsen, C. de Mello Donegá, Near-infrared-emitting CuInS₂/ZnS dot-in-rod colloidal heteronanorods by seeded growth, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 140 (17) (2018) 5755–5763, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b01412.
- [42] H. Zhong, S.S. Lo, T. Mirkovic, Y. Li, Y. Ding, Y. Li, G.D. Scholes, Non injection gram-scale synthesis of monodisperse pyramidal CuInS2 nanocrystals and their size-dependent properties, ACS Nano 4 (2010) 5253–5262, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/nn1015538.
- [43] A. Lefrançois, S. Pouget, L. Vaure, M. Lopez-Haro, P. Reiss, Direct synthesis of highly conductive *tert*-butylthiol-capped CuInS₂ nanocrystals, Chem. Phys. Chem. 17 (2016) 654–659, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cphc. 201500800.
- [44] D. Pan, L. An, Z. Sun, W. Hou, Y. Yang, Z. Yang, Y. Lu, Synthesis of Cu-In-S ternary nanocrystals with tunable structure and composition, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 5620–5621, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja711027j.
- [45] P.M. Allen, M.G. Bawendi, Ternary I-III-VI quantum dots luminescent in the red to near-infrared, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 9240–9241, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja8036349.
- [46] T.L. Li, H. Teng, Solution synthesis of high-quality CulnS₂quantum dots as sensitizers for TiO₂ photoelectrodes, J. Mater. Chem. 20 (2010) 3656–3664, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/B927279H.
- [47] D.E. Nam, W.-S. Song, H. Yang, Facile, air-insensitive solvothermal synthesis of emission-tunable CuInS₂/ZnS quantum dots with high quantum yields, J. Mater. Chem. 21 (2011) 18220, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C1JM12437D.
- [48] J.S. Gardner, E. Shurdha, C. Wang, L.D. Lau, R.G. Rodriguez, J.J. Pak, Rapid synthesis and size control of CuInS2 semi-conductor nanoparticles using microwave irradiation, J. Nanopart. Res. 10 (2008) 633–641, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1021/cm100456t.

- [49] B. Zhang, Y. Wang, C. Yang, S. Hu, Y. Gao, Y. Zhang, Y. Wang, H.V. Demir, L. Liu, K.T. Yong, The composition effect on the optical properties of aqueous synthesized Cu-In-S and Zn-Cu-In-S quantum dot nanocrystals, Phys. Chem. 17 (2015) 25133-25141, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c5cp03312h.
- [50] D.P. Dutta, G. Sharma, A facile route to the synthesis of CulnS₂ nanoparticles, Mater. Lett. 60 (2006) 2395–2398, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet. 2006.01.025.
- [51] L. Liu, R. Hu, W.-C. Law, I. Roy, J. Zhu, L. Ye, S. Hu, X. Zhang, K.T. Yong, Optimizing the synthesis of red-and near-infrared CuInS2 and AgInS2 semiconductor nanocrystals for bioimaging, Analyst 138 (2013) 6144–6153, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c3an01030a.
- [52] D. Deng, L. Qu, Y. Gu, Near-infrared broadly emissive AgInSe2/ZnS quantum dots for biomedical optical imaging, J. Mater. Chem. C 2 (34) (2014) 7077–7085, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C4TC01147C.
- [53] K. Yu, Y. Yang, J. Wang, X. Tang, Q.-H. Xu, G.P. Wang, Ultrafast carrier dynamics and third-order nonlinear optical properties of AgInS2/ZnS nanocrystals, Nanotechnology 29 (2018) 255703, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1088/1361-6528/aabab7.
- [54] T. Kameyama, Advances in colloidal I-III-VI2-based semiconductor quantum dots toward tailorable photofunctional materials, Electrochemistry 86 (2018) 291–297, http://dx.doi.org/10.5796/electrochemistry.18-6-E2670.
- [55] E. Cassette, T. Pons, C. Bouet, M. Helle, L. Bezdetnaya, F. Marchal, B. Dubertret, Synthesis and characterization of near-infrared Cu-In-Se/ZnS core/shell quantum dots for in vivo imaging, Chem. Mater. 22 (2010) 6117–6124, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cm101881b.
- [56] W. Van der Stam, E. Bladt, F.T. Rabouw, S. Bals, C. de Mello Donega, Near-infrared emitting CuInSe2/CuInS2 dot core/rod shell heteronanorods by sequential cation exchange, ACS Nano 9 (2015) 11430–11438, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b05496.
- [57] L. Li, A. Pandey, D.J. Werder, B.P. Khanal, J.M. Pietryga, V.I. Klimov, Efficient synthesis of highly luminescent copper indium sulfide-based core/shell nanocrystals with surprisingly long-lived emission, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133 (2011) 1176–1179, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja108261h.
- [58] Y. Chen, S. Li, L. Huang, D. Pan, Green and facile synthesis of Water-Soluble Cu-In-S/ZnS Core/Shell Quantum Dots, Inorg. Chem. 52 (2013) 7819–7821, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ic400083w.
- [59] X. Gao, Z. Liu, Z. Lin, X. Su, CuInS₂ quantum dots/poly (I-glutamic acid)– drug conjugates for drug delivery and cell imaging, Analyst 139 (2014) 831, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c3an01134h.
- [60] C. Wang, X. Gao, X. Su, In vitro and *in vivo* imaging with quantum dots, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 397 (2010) 1397–1415, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s00216-010-3481-6.
- [61] S. Sil, A. Dey, S. Halder, J. Datta, P.P. Ray, Possibility to Use Hydrothermally Synthesized CuFeS2 nanocomposite as an acceptor in hybrid solar cell, J. Mater. Eng. Perform. 27 (2018) 2649–2654.
- [62] Z. Luo, H. Zhang, J. Huang, X. Zhong, One-step synthesis of water-soluble AgInS₂ and ZnS-AgInS₂ composite nanocrystals and their photocatalytic activities, 377 (2012) 27-33 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2012.03.074.
- [63] Y. Yang, B. Mao, G. Gong, D. Li, Y. Liu, W. Cao, L. Xing, J. Zeng, W. Shi, S. Yuan, In-situ growth of Zn-AgIn5S8 quantum dots on g-C3N4 towards 0D/2D heterostructured photocatalysts with enhanced hydrogen production, Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 44 (2019) 15882–15891, https://www.x-mol.com/paperRedirect/5374264.
- [64] P. Subramaniam, S.J. Lee, S. Shah, S. Patel, V. Starovoytov, K.B. Lee, Generation of a library of non-toxic quantum dots for cellular imaging and siRNA delivery, Adv. Mater. 24 (2012) 4014–4019, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/adma.201201019.
- [65] W.W. Xiong, G.H. Yang, X.C. Wu, J.J. Zhu, Microwave-assisted synthesis of highly luminescent AgInS₂/ZnS nanocrystals for dynamic intracellular Cu(II) detection, J. Mater. Chem. B 1 (2013) 4160, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1039/C3TB20638F.
- [66] W. Zhang, D. Li, Z. Chen, M. Sun, W. Li, Q. Lin, X. Fu, Microwave hydrothermal synthesis of AgInS2 with visible light photocatalytic activity, Mater. Res. Bull. 46 (2011) 975–982, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. materresbull.2011.03.026.
- [67] S. Tongpeng, T. Sarakonsri, H. Kurata, Y. Shinoda, Synthesis and characterization of CuGaSe2 nanoparticles prepared by a microwave method, J. Ceram. Process. Res. 14 (2013) 92–95, http://cmuir.cmu.ac.th/jspui/ h{and}le/6653943832/52667.
- [68] N. Chumha, T. Thongtem, S. Thongtem, D. Tantraviwat, S. Kittiwachana, S. Kaowphong, A single step method for synthesis of CuInS₂ nanostructures using cyclic microwave irradiation, Ceram. Int. 42 (2016) 15643–15649, http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/2053-1591/ab6885.
- [69] Z. Liu, X. Yang, Z. Wang, H. Qi, L. Ji, X. Li, C. Ma, Z. Deng, J. Deng, Shape-controlled synthesis of water-soluble AgInSe₂ nanocrystals by a convenient solvothermal approach, Mater. Lett. 161 (2015) 442-446, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.matlet.2015.09.005.

- [70] T. Pons, E. Pic, N. Lequeux, E. Cassette, L. Bezdetnaya, F. Guillemin, F. Marchal, B. Dubertret, Cadmium-free CuInS₂/ZnS quantum dots for sentinel lymph node imaging with reduced toxicity, ACS Nano 4 (5) (2010) 2531–2538, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/nn901421v.
- [71] J. Park, C. Dvoracek, K.H. Lee, J.F. Galloway, H.C. Bhang, M.G. Pomper, P.C. Searson, CuInSe/ZnS core/shell NIR quantum dots for biomedical imaging, Small 7 (22) (2011) 3148–3152, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/smll. 201101558.
- [72] O. Yarema, M. Yarema, D. Bozyigit, W.M. Lin, V. Wood, Independent composition and size control for highly luminescent indium-rich silver indium selenide nanocrystals, ACS Nano 9 (11) (2015) 11134–11142, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b04636.
- [73] B. Mao, C.-H. Chuang, C. McCleese, J. Zhu, C. Burda, Near-infrared emitting AgInS₂/ZnS nanocrystals, J. Phys. Chem. C 118 (25) (2014) 13883–13889, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp500872w.
- [74] Y. Tian, C. Xin, Z. Fang, X. Fang, J. Zhou, H.D. Yu, L. Li, Q. Ju, Thinning shell thickness of CuInS₂@ ZnS quantum dots to boost detection sensitivity, Anal. Chim. Acta 1047 (2019) 124–130, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aca. 2018.09.043.
- [75] A. Arshad, R. Akram, S. Iqbal, F. Batool, B. Iqbal, B. Khalid, A.U. Khan, Aqueous synthesis of tunable fluorescent, semiconductor CuInS₂ quantum dots for bioimaging, Arab. J. Chem. (2016) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. arabjc.2016.10.002.
- [76] J. Song, T. Jiang, T. Guo, L. Liu, H. Wang, T. Xia, W. Zhang, Facile synthesis of water-soluble zn- doped AgIn₅S₈/ZnS core/shell fluorescent nanocrystals and their biological application, Inorg. Chem. 54 (4) (2015) 1627–1633, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ic502600u.
- [77] I.A. Mir, V.S. Radhakrishanan, K. Rawat, T. Prasad, H.B. Bohidar, Bandgap tunable AgInS based quantum dots for high contrast cell imaging with enhanced photodynamic and antifungal applications, Sci. Rep. 8 (1) (2018) 9322, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27246-y.
- [78] J.Y. Chang, G.-R. Chen, J.-D. Li, Synthesis of magnetofluorescence Gddoped CulnS₂/ZnS quantum dots with enhanced longitudinal relaxivity, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 18 (10) (2016) 7132–7140, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1039/c5cp07063e.
- [79] O. Tagit, M.V. de Ruiter, M. Brasch, Y. Ma, J.J.L.M. Cornelissen, Quantum dot encapsulation in virus-like particles with tuneable structural properties and low toxicity, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 38110, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C7RA06684H.
- [80] A.S. Karakoti, R. Shukla, R. Shanker, S. Singh, Surface functionalization of quantum dots for biological applications, Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 215 (2015) 28–45, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2014.11.004.
- [81] F. Di Stasio, J.Q. Grim, V. Lesnyak, P. Rastogi, L. Manna, I. Moreels, R. Krahne, Single-mode lasing from colloidal water-soluble CdSe/CdS quantum dot-in-rods, Small 11 (2015) 1328, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ smll.201402527.
- [82] W.R. Algar, K. Susumu, J.B. Delehanty, I.L. Medintz, Semiconductor quantum dots in bioanalysis: crossing the valley of death, Anal. Chem. 83 (2011) 8826–8837, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ac201331r.
- [83] Y. Zhang, A. Clapp, Overview of stabilizing ligands for biocompatible quantum dot nanocrystals, Sensors (Basel) 11 (2011) 11036–11055, http: //dx.doi.org/10.3390/s111211036.
- [84] J.K. Jaiswal, E.R. Goldman, H. Mattoussi, S.M. Simon, Use of quantum dots for live cell imaging, Nature Methods 1 (2004) 73–78.
- [85] F. Pinaud, D. King, H.P. Moore, S. Weiss, Bioactivation and cell targeting of semiconductor CdSe/ZnS nanocrystals with phytochelatin-related peptides, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 126 (2004) 6115–6123, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ ja031691c.
- [86] K. Susumu, H.T. Uyeda, I.L. Medintz, T. Pons, J.B. Delehanty, H. Mattoussi, Enhancing the stability and biological functionalities of quantum dots via compact multifunctional ligands, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129 (2007) 13987–13996, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja0749744.
- [87] H. Kim, M. Suh, B.H. Kwon, D.S. Jang, S.W. Kim, D.Y. Jeon, In situ ligand exchange of thiol-capped CuInS2/ZnS quantum dots at growth stage without affecting luminescent characteristics, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 363 (2011) 703–706, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2011.06.087.
- [88] L. Li, T.J. Daou, I. Texier, T.T. KimChi, N.Q. Liem, P. Reiss, Highly luminescent CuInS₂/ZnS core/shell nanocrystals: Cadmium free quantum dots for *in vivo* imaging, Chem. Mater. 21 (2009) 2422–2429, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1021/cm900103b.
- [89] M. Díaz-González, A. de la Escosura-Muñiz, M.T. Fernandez-Argüelles, F. Javier, G. Alonso, J.M. Costa Fernandez, Quantum dot bioconjugates for diagnostic applications, Top Curr. Chem. (Z) 378 (2020) 35, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/s41061-020-0296-6.
- [90] T. Aubert, S.J. Soenen, D. Wassmuth, M. Cirillo, R. Van Deun, K. Braeckmans, Z. Hens, Bright and stable CdSe/CdS@SiO(2) nanoparticles suitable for long-term cell labeling, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6 (2014) 11714–11723, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/am502367b.

- [91] M.T. Fernandez-Arguelles, J.M. Costa-Fernandez, R. Pereiro, A. Sanz-Medel, Simple bio-conjugation of polymer-coated quantum dots with antibodies for fuorescence-based immunoassays, Analyst 133 (2008) 444–447, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1039/b802360n.
- [92] R. Potapova, S. Mruk, R. Prehl, T. Zentel, A. Basche, A. Mews, Semiconductor nanocrystals with multifunctional polymer ligands, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 320–321, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja028641c.
- [93] H. Mattoussi, J.M. Mauro, E.R. Goldman, T.M. Green, G.P. Anderson, V.C. Sundar, M.G. Bawendi, Bioconjugation of highly luminescent colloidal CdSe-ZnS quantum dots with an engineered two domain recombinant protein, Phys. Status Solidi b 224 (2001) 277–283, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1002/1521-3951(200103)224.
- [94] A.M. Smith, S. Nie, Minimizing the hydrodynamic size of quantum dots with multifunctional multidentate polymer ligands, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 11278-11279, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ja804306c.
- [95] Y. Du, Y. Zhong, J. Donga, C. Qiana, S. Sunc, L. Gaod, D. Yang, The effect of PEG functionalization on the in vivo behavior and toxicity of CdTe quantum dots, RSC Adv. 9 (2019) 12218–12225, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C9RA00022D.
- [96] A. Foubert, N.V. Belaglazova, A. Rajkovic, A. Madder, I.Y. Goryacheva, S.D. Saeger, Bioconjugation of quantum dots: Review and impact on future application, Trends Anal. Chem. 83 (2016) 31–48, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.trac.2016.07.008.
- [97] Y. Xing, J. Rao, Quantum dot bioconjugates for in vitro diagnostics & in vivo imaging, Cancer Biomark. 4 (2008) 307-319, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3233/cbm-2008-4603.
- [98] J.B. Blanco-Canosa, M. Wu, K. Susumu, E. Petryayeva, T.L. Jennings, P.E. Dawson, W.R. Algar, I.L. Medintz, Recent progress in the bioconjugation of quantum dots, Coord. Chem. Rev. 263 (2014) 101–137, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.08.030.
- [99] R.A. Sperling, W.J. Parak: Surface modification, Functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 368 (2010) 1333–1383, http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2009.0273.
- [100] L. Medintz, L. Berti, T. Pons, A.F. Grimes, D.S. English, A. Alessandrini, P. Facci, H. Mattousi, A reactive peptidic linker for self-assembling hybrid quantum dot-DNA bioconjugates, Nano Lett. 7 (2007) 1741–1748, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/nl070782v.
- [101] K.E. Sapsford, W.R. Algar, L. Berti, K.B. Gemmill, B.J. Casey, E. Oh, M.H. Stewart, I.L. Medintz, Functionalizing nanoparticles with biological molecules: developing chemistries that facilitate nanotechnology, Chem. Rev. 113 (2013) 1904–2074, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cr300143v.
- [102] A.M. Wagner, J.M. Knipe, G. Orive, N.A. Peppas, Quantum dots in biomedical applications, Acta Biomater. 94 (2019) 44–63, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.actbio.2019.05.022.
- [103] M. Michalska, A. Florczak, H. Dams-Kozlowska, J. Gapinski, S. Jurga, R. Schneider, Peptide-functionalized ZCIS QDs as fluorescent nanoprobe for targeted HER2-positive breast cancer cells imaging, Acta Biomater. 35 (2016) 293–304, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2016.02.002.
- [104] Y. Xi, J. Yang, Y. Ge, S. Zhao, J. Wang, Y. Li, Y. Hao, J. Chen, Y. Zhu, One-pot synthesis of water-soluble near-infrared fluorescence RNase A capped CuInS2 quantum dots for in vivo imaging, RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 50949–50954, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C7RA08418H.
- [105] D. Che, X. Zhu, H. Wang, et al., Aqueous synthesis of high bright and tunable near-infrared AgInSe2–ZnSe quantum dots for bioimaging, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 463 (2016) 1–7, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2015. 10.039.
- [106] T. Jiang, J. Song, H. Wang, et al., Aqueous synthesis of color tunable Cu doped Zn-- in-S/ZnS nanoparticles in the whole visible region for cellular imaging, J. Mater. Chem. B 3 (2015) 2402–2410, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C4TB01957A.
- [107] R. Bilan, F. Fleury, I. Nabiev, A. Sukhanova, Quantum dot surface chemistry and functionalization for cell targeting and imaging, Bioconjug. Chem. 26 (2015) 609–624, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.5b00069.
- [108] Z. Altintas, F. Davis, F. Scheller, Applications of quantum dots in biosensors and diagnostics Chapter 9, Biosens. Nanotechnol. Appl. Health Care http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781119065036.ch9.
- [109] V. Renuga, C. Neela Mohan, M.S. Mohamed Jaabir, Pitchan Arul Prakash, M. Navaneethan, Synthesis and surface passivation of CuInS2/MnS/ZnS core-multishell nanocrystals, their optical, structural and morphological characterization, and their bioimaging applications, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 57 (2018) 15703–15721, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.8b03482.
- [110] W.W. Xiong, G.H. Yang, X.C. Wu, J.J. Zhu, Aqueous synthesis of colortunable CuInS2/ZnS nanocrystals for the detection of human interleukin 6, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 5 (2013) 8210–8216, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1021/am402328t.
- [111] P. Zhu, D.R. Shelton, J.S. Karns, A. Sundaram, S. Li, P. Amstutz, C. Tang, Detection of water-borne e. Coli o157 using the integrating waveguide biosensor, Biosens. Bioelectron. 21 (2005) 678, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.bios.2005.01.00583.

- [112] X. Wu, H. Liu, J. Liu, K.N. Harley, J.A. Treatway, J.T. Larson, N. Ge, F. Paele, M.P. Bruchez, Immunofluorescent labeling of cancer marker Her2 and other cellular targets with semiconductor quantum dots, Nat. Biotechnol. 21 (2003) 41–46, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nbt764.
- [113] L. Fass, Imaging and Cancer: A review, Mol. Oncol. 2 (1) (2008) 115–152, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2008.04.001.
- [114] G. Mandal, M. Darragh, Y.A. Wang, C.D. Heyes, Cadmium-free quantum dots as time-gated bioimaging probes in highly-autofluorescent human breast cancer cells, Chem. Commun. 49 (2013) 624–626, http://dx.doi. org/10.1039/C2CC37529J.
- [115] C. Yu, T. Xuan, S. Lou, X. Liu, G. Lian, H. Li, Gd³⁺ doped CuInS2/ZnS nanocrystals with high quantum yield for bimodal fluorescence/magnetic resonance imaging, J. Rare Earths 35 (2017) 382–388, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/S1002-0721(17)60923-2.
- [116] Y. Yang, L. Lin, L. Jing, X. Yue, Z. Dai, CulnS₂/ZnS Quantum Dots Conjugating Gd(III) chelates for near-infrared fluorescence and magnetic resonance bimodal imaging, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 (2017) 23450–23457, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b05867.
- [117] M.D. Regulacio, K.Y. Win, S.L. Lo, S.Y. Zhang, X. Zhang, S. Wang, et al., Aqueous synthesis of highly luminescent AgInS₂-ZnS quantum dots and their biological applications, Nanoscale 5 (2013) 2322–2327, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1039/C3NR34159C.
- [118] M.Z. Fahmi, J.Y. Chang, Forming double layer-encapsulated quantum dots for bio-imaging and cell targeting, Nanoscale 5 (2013) 1517–1528, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1039/c2nr33429a.
- [119] Y. Sheng, X. Tang, J. Xu, Synthesis of AIZS@ SiO 2 core-shell nanoparticles for cellular imaging applications, J. Mater. Chem. 22 (2012) 1290–1296, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C1JM14794C.
- [120] X. Liu, G.B. Braun, H. Zhong, D.J. Hall, W. Han, M. Qin, C. Zhao, M. Wang, Z.G. She, C. Cao, Tumor-targeted multimodal optical imaging with versatile cadmium-free quantum dots, Adv. Funct. Mater. 26 (2016) 267–276, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201503453.
- [121] Zhao, Zhu, The research and applications of quantum dots as nanocarriers for targeted drug delivery and cancer therapy, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 11 (2016) 8–19, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s11671-016-1394-9.
- [122] T.A. Debele, S. Peng, H.C. Tsai, Drug carrier for photodynamic cancer therapy, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16 (2015) 22094–22136, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3390/ijms160922094.
- [123] P.C. Balaure, A.M. Grumezescu, Smart synthetic polymer nanocarriers for controlled and site-specific drug delivery, Curr. Top Med. Chem. 15 (2015) 1424–1490, http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1568026615666150414115852.
- [124] B. Loretz, R. Jain, P. Dandekar, C. Thiele, H. Yamada, B. Mostaghaci, et al., Chances of nanomaterials for pharmaceutical applications, Saf. Asp. Eng. Nanomater. 10 (2013) 279–317, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s11671-016-1394-9.
- [125] P.J. Wu, K.L. Ou, J.K. Chen, H.P. Fang, S.H. Tzing, W.X. Lin, J.Y. Chang, Methotrexate-conjugated AgInS₂/ZnS quantum dots for optical imaging and drug delivery, Mater. Lett. 128 (2014) 412–416, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.matlet.2014.04.167.
- [126] W.M. Girma, S.H. Tzing, P.J. Tseng, C.C. Huang, Y.C. Ling, J.Y. Chang, Synthesis of cisplatin (IV) prodrug-tethered CuFeS2 nanoparticles in tumor-targeted chemotherapy and photothermal therapy, ACS Appl. Mater. Interface 10 (2018) 4590–4602, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 7b19640.
- [127] N. Tsolekile, S. Parani, M.C. Matoetoe, S.P. Songca, O.S. Oluwafemi, Evolution of ternary I–III–VIQDs: synthesis, characterization and application, Nano-Struct. Nano-Objects 12 (2017) 46–56, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. nanoso.2017.08.012.
- [128] S. Kamila, C. Mcewan, D. Costley, J. Atchison, Y. Sheng, G.R.C. Hamilton, C. Fowley J.F. Callan, Diagnostic and therapeutic applications of quantum dots in nanomedicine, Top Curr. Chem. 370 (2016) 203–224, http://dx. doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-22942-3_7.
- [129] Q. Wu, M. Chu, Y. Shao, F. Wo, D. Shi, Reduced graphene oxide conjugated with CuInS₂/ZnS nanocrystals with low toxicity for enhanced photothermal and photodynamic cancer therapies, Carbon 108 (2016) 21–37.
- [130] P.R. Chandran, R.T. Thomas, Gold nanoparticles in cancer drug delivery, Nanotechnol. Appl. Tissue Eng. (2015) 221–237, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ b978-0-323-32889-0.00014-5.
- [131] J.F. Hainfeld, F.A. Dilmanian, D.N. Slatkin, H.M. Smilowitz, Radiotherapy enhancement with gold nanoparticles, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 60 (2008) 977–985, http://dx.doi.org/10.1211/jpp.60.8.0005.
- [132] C. Ménard-Moyon, Applications of carbon nanotubes in the biomedical field, Smart Nanoparticles Biomed. (2018) 83–101, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/b978-0-12-814156-4.00006-9.
- [133] Y. Yang, J. Liu, C. Liang, L. Feng, T. Fu, Z. Dong, Y. Chao, Y. Li, G. Lu, M. Chen, Z. Liu, Nanoscale metal-organic particles with rapid clearance for magnetic resonance imaging-guided photothermal therapy, ACS Nano 10 (2016) 2774–2781, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.5b07882.

- [134] G. Lv, W. Guo, W. Zhang, T. Zhang, S. Li, S. Chen, A.S. Eltahan, Near-infrared emission CuInS/ZnS quantum dots: all-in-one theranostic nanomedicines with intrinsic fluorescence/photoacoustic imaging for tumor phototherapy, ACS Nano 10 (10) (2016) 9637–9645, http://dx.doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.6b05419.
- [135] A. Lopalco, N. Denora, Nanoformulations for drug delivery: safety, toxicity, and efficacy, in: Computational Toxicology, Humana Press, New York, NY, 2018, pp. 347–365, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7899-1_17.
- [136] H. Gao, C.P. Teng, D. Huang, W. Xu, C. Zheng, Y. Chen, ., E. Ye, Microwave assisted synthesis of luminescent carbonaceous nanoparticles from silk fibroin for bioimaging, Mater. Sci. Eng. C 80 (2017) 616–623, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2017.07.007.
- [137] K. Qi, Y. Wang, R. Wang, D. Wu, G.D. Li, Facile synthesis of homogeneous CuInS₂ quantum dots with tunable near-infrared emission, J. Mater. Chem. C 4 (9) (2016) 1895–1899, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/c5tc04232a.
- [138] G. Yang, S.Z.F. Phua, A.K. Bindra, Y. Zhao, Degradability and clearance of inorganic nanoparticles for biomedical applications, Adv. Mater. 31 (10) (2019) 1805730, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/adma.201805730.
- [139] S. Chinnathambi, N. Shirahata, Recent advances on fluorescent biomarkers of near-infrared quantum dots for in vitro and in vivo imaging, Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater. 20 (1) (2019) 337–355, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 14686996.2019.1590731.
- [140] C. Alric, I. Miladi, D. Kryza, J. Taleb, F. Lux, R. Bazzi, C. Billotey, M. Janier, P. Perriat, S. Roux, The biodistribution of gold nanoparticles designed for renal clearance, Nanoscale 5 (2013) 5930–5939, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ C3NR00012E.

- [141] H. Shinchi, M. Wakao, N. Nagata, M. Sakamoto, E. Mochizuki, T. Uematsu, S. Kuwabata, Y. Suda, Cadmium-free sugar-chain-immobilized fluorescent nanoparticles containing low-toxicity ZnS-AgInS₂ cores for probing lectin and cells, Bioconjug. Chem. 25 (2) (2014) 286–295, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1021/bc400425w.
- [142] W.M. Girma, K. Dehvari, Y.-C. Ling, J.Y. Chang, Albumin-functionalized CuFeS₂/photosensitizer nanohybrid for single-laser-induced folate receptor-targeted photothermal and photodynamic therapy, Mater. Sci. Eng. C 101 (2019) 179–189, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.03.074.
- [143] Y. Zhu, J. Li, X. Yun, G. Zhao, P. Ge, G. Zou, Y. Liu, H. Hou, X. Ji, Graphitic carbon Quantum Dots Modified Nickel Cobalt Sulfide as Cathode Materials for Alkaline Aqueous Batteries, Nano-Micro Lett. 12 (2020) 16, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40820-019-0355-0.
- [144] D. Bera, L. Qian, T.K. Tseng, P.H. Holloway, Quantum dots and their multimodal applications: A review, Materials (Basel) 3 (2010) 2260–2345.
- [145] J. Ge, M. Lan, B. Zhou, W. Liu, L. Guo, H. Wang, Q. Jia, G. Niu, X. Huang, H. Zhou, A graphene quantum dot photodynamic therapy agent with high singlet oxygen generation, Nature Commun. 5 (2014) 4596, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5596.
- [146] B.Z. Ristic, M.M. Milenkovic, I.R. Dakic, B.M. Todorovic Markovic, M.S. Milosavljevic, M.D. Budimir, V.G. Paunovic, M.D. Dramicanin, Z.M. Markovic, V.S. Trajkovic, Photodynamic antibacterial effect of graphene quantum dots, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 4428, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2014.02.014.